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For at least 12,000 years, the Tennessee River and the Little Tennessee River Valley have
been an area for human occupation that became more intense through succeeding cultural
periods. In East Tennessee, archaeological investigations have demonstrated that
Tennessee and the eastern Ridge and Valley region were the setting for each one of these
cultural/temporal traditions: Paleo-Indian (10,000-8000 B.C.), Archaic (8000-1200 B.C.),
Woodland (1200 B.C.-A.D. 1000), Mississippian (A.D. 1000-1500), Protohistoric-Contact
(A.D. 1500-1750), Historic European American and African American (A.D. 1750-Present)
Periods. Prehistoric archaeological stages are based on changing settlement and land use
patterns and artifact styles. Each of these broad periods is generally broken into
subperiods (Early, Middle, and Late), which are also based on artifact styles and settlement
patterns. Smaller time periods, known as ‘Phases,’ are represented by distinctive sets of
artifactual remains.

The Paleo-Indian Period represents the documented first human occupation of the area.
The settlement and land use pattern of this period was dominated by highly mobile bands
of hunters and gatherers. The subsequent Archaic Period represents a continuation of the
hunter-gatherer lifestyle. Through time, there is increasing social complexity and the
appearance of horticulture late in the period. The settlement pattern during this period is
characterized by spring and summer campsites. Increased social complexity, reliance on
horticulture and agriculture, and the introduction of ceramic technology characterize the
Woodland Period. The increased importance of horticulture is associated with a less
mobile lifestyle as suggested by semipermanent structures. The Mississippian Period, the
last prehistoric period in East Tennessee, is associated with the pinnacle of social
complexity in the Southeastern United States. This period is characterized by permanent
settlements, palisades, maize agriculture, and chiefdom-level societies. These settlements
normally occurred on the second terrace because of the soil-rich bottomlands used for
horticulture. The Protohistoric-Contact Period consisted of the effects of European contact
in the region. Native American cultural traditions periodically utilizing resources in East
Tennessee in this period would have been Creek, Shawnee, Yuchi, and Cherokee.
However, this area was predominately occupied by the Cherokee during most of this
period.

By the mid-18th century, the Historic European American and African American Period
began as European hunters and fur trappers were crossing the Appalachians to explore
and exploit the abundant wildlife and other natural resources of the region. The Cherokee,
in an attempt to protect their fur trade, convinced the English to issue a proclamation in
1763 forbidding European access of the land west of the Blue Ridge. By 1786, European
Americans were already settling in upper East Tennessee along the Watauga and Holston
Rivers. After the American Revolution, attempts were made to establish the independent
State of Franklin from the western territories of North Carolina. The State of Franklin
ceased to existin 1789. In 1796, the territory became the State of Tennessee (Gerson
1968). By the late 1830s, European American settlers and the United States government
had effectively removed most of the Indian inhabitants from the area.

With the expansion of the United States of America, this location became part of
Tennessee. The Cherokee ceded their claim to the land that is now Knox County under the
terms of the Treaty of the Holston, which was signed on July 2, 1791. Later the same year,
the settlement that became Knoxville was designated as the territorial capitol. In 1792, the
fledgling town was named Knoxville in honor of General Henry Knox (MacArthur 1976).
From 1796 until 1811, Knoxville had the distinction of being the territorial capitol of
Tennessee, while the legislature rotated its meetings between Knoxville, Nashville, and
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Murfreesboro. The Tennessee River waterways became a part of a significant
transportation and trade network throughout the region. By the mid-1800s, railroads were
constructed and a more passable roadway system connected Knoxville to Charleston and
other prominent cities at that time (MacArthur 1976). All of these developments solved a
number of economic needs for Knoxvillians and brought more settlers and skilled workers
to the area. By 1850, Knoxville had left the frontier far behind and was developing into a
commercial center. The local economy was no longer dominated by farming as more and
more people came into the area and sons of the affluent early settlers completed their
education and returned to Knoxuville as doctors, lawyers, bankers, teachers, real estate
holders, etc. (Young 1993). With this advantage, East Tennessee had a more mixed
economic base than the middle and western portion of the state by 1860.

Knoxville was of vital importance during the Civil War because of its commercial and
manufacturing strengths and, most importantly, East Tennessee’s natural resources. Many
East Tennesseans were loyal to the Union, but there were also many Confederate
sympathizers. The Confederacy was in control of Knoxville until the Union troops, led by
General Ambrose E. Burnside, arrived in the city on September 3, 1863. General Burnside
established his headquarters on Gay Street in the home of John H. Crozier, a Confederate
sympathizer (Seymour 1982). Union defenses for Knoxville were under the charge of
Captain Orlando Poe. Confederate troops under the command of General James
Longstreet attacked on November 29, 1863, and what became known as the Battle of Fort
Sanders lasted for 20 minutes. Many houses and other buildings were burned or badly
damaged as a result of the conflict.

After the Civil War, Knoxville began its rise to prominence as a major southern wholesale
and jobbing center. The catalyst for this period of rapid economic growth was the arrival of
rail transportation. The heyday of the steamboat had passed, and a new era was
beginning. Outside of Knoxville, little had changed since the Civil War. Most of the area
relied on agriculture and farming. With the development of TVA in 1933, the economy and
lifeways changed with the wide availability of low-cost electrical services. This, in turn,
brought about successful ventures in economic development and recreation to Knoxville
and the surrounding communities.

TVA is mandated under the NHPA of 1966 to preserve important historic properties
affected by TVA undertakings. In response to this federal legislation, TVA conducts
surveys to record historic properties. From reviewing the initial project and associated
federal permits and approvals, TVA Cultural Resources and the SHPO determined the APE
for historic properties to be the golf practice facility and greenway route. Since the initial
permit submittal, the shoreline stabilization has now been included in the APE for the EA.
An archaeological site identification survey (Phase |) was recommended to determine the
effects on historic properties for these actions.

In April to May 2004, personnel from the UT Archaeological Research Laboratory (ARL)
conducted a site identification (Phase 1) archaeological survey within a portion of the UT-
Knoxville Experiment Station, Knoxville, Tennessee. The project area consists of gently
rolling to flat cropland and pasture and is situated on alluvial terraces and colluvial slopes
adjacent to Fort Loudoun Reservoir. The archaeological investigation met the Tennessee
state guidelines for archaeological investigations. In areas with less than 30 percent
surface visibility and less than 12 percent slope, shovel tests were excavated at
approximately 30-meter intervals. In areas where the slope was greater than 12 percent, a
visual inspection was made for cultural features. Portions of two previously recorded sites

74



are partially located within the project area. Both previously recorded sites were
reexamined.

One site (40KN45) is located on the alluvial terrace and colluvial bench north of the
unnamed drainage that runs through the project area. The artifacts recovered from the site
range from the Archaic through Mississippian Periods. Soil profiles suggested a high
probability for the occurrence of intact subsurface cultural features on the site.

The second site (40KN113) is located on a natural levee and colluvial bench. Results
indicated that there were two distinct components of this site. Artifacts associated with this
site are Woodland through Mississippian and European American Periods. Soil profiles
and the occurrence of intact subsurface cultural features suggest prehistoric use of the
area. The recovery of historic ceramic fragments also indicated a previously unknown early
19th century deposit as well.

After this site identification survey, it was recommended that the sites should be avoided
and if that were not possible that site evaluation (Phase Il) investigations would be
necessary. The Tennessee SHPO concurred with this finding (July 24, 2004). The
following federally recognized tribes were notified of this finding and were invited to
participate: Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians; United Keetoowah Band of Cherokee
Indians in Oklahoma; Cherokee Nation; Muscogee (Creek) Nation of Oklahoma; Alabama-
Coushatta Tribe; Alabama-Quassarte Tribal Town; Kialegee Tribal Town; Thlopthlocco
Tribal Town; Poarch Band of Creek Indians; Shawnee Tribe; Absentee-Shawnee Tribe of
Oklahoma; and Eastern Shawnee Tribe of Oklahoma. Only the Eastern Band of Cherokee
Indians chose to participate in the process.

Based on the limited acreage, UT could not redesign to avoid the resources, and a site
evaluation (Phase Il) was conducted at 40KN45 and 40KN113. In August 2004, personnel
from ARL and UT Department of Anthropology conducted a Phase Il archaeological
evaluation of the two sites. Backhoe stripping of plowzone was initiated at 40KN113 (Angst
et al. 2005). Because of the extensive amount of erosion and the lack of observed intact
cultural deposits across most of the site, stripping was abbreviated only to locations that
contained intact archaeological features. In order to incorporate the observations made in
the field, the methodology at the other site (40KN45) was altered to accommodate a wider
plowzone stripping interval of 40 meters. When intact archaeological deposits were
encountered, additional stripping was conducted at the originally proposed 20-meter
interval. Plowzone stripping was also abbreviated in some locations due of the absence of
intact deposits and because of soil conditions making it an unlikely area for cultural activity.

Another revision to the original scope of work was the abandonment of the archaeological
assessment of the lower terrace (when a trench was excavated, groundwater began to
seep in 1 meter from the surface). With the water table so close to the surface, it was
determined that an adequate assessment of the archaeological deposits could not be
performed during summer pool of adjacent Fort Loudoun Reservoir.

Based on the data gathered during the Phase Il archaeological assessment of sites
40KN113 and 40KN45, portions of both sites contain significant archaeological data and
are eligible for the NRHP. The eligible portion of 40KN113 includes remains of a prehistoric
activity, a historic European-American cellar, and the immediate surrounding area most
likely associated with an early 19th century farmstead. Furthermore, 40KN45 contained a
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deep midden identified in the lower terrace immediately adjacent to Fort Loudoun Reservoir
and an apparent late Mississippian village.

Based on the studies, the sites contain information important to history and prehistory and
may be adversely affected by the construction of the golf practice facility. TVA, the SHPO,
UT, and Knox County agreed that an MOA should be drafted to address the adverse effects
on historic properties regarding the golf practice facility construction (placement of cut and
fill) and, since a greenway route had not been selected at the time, allowed for survey-
phased compliance for the greenway route. The MOA was executed on April 18, 2006.
The Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians chose not to sign as a concurring party.

Additional archaeological investigations occurred at the remaining portion of the UT
property; this included the area proposed for stabilization and the greenway. From March
to April 2006, ARL conducted a site identification (Phase |) archaeological survey (Angst
2007). The project area consists of approximately 187 acres of rolling to flat cropland,
pasture, and developed areas. Pedestrian survey of the exposed shoreline of Fort
Loudoun Reservoir, shovel testing, mechanical coring, and geophysical studies identified
prehistoric and historic archaeological deposits on the floodplain and terraces. These
investigations have demonstrated that the upper 18 to 24 inches of soil across the river
terraces are part of the disturbed plowzone, sediments impacted by agriculture activities.
These deposits, with prehistoric artifacts, are interpreted as an extension of 40KN45. A
limited array of historic artifacts was also recovered from the terraces. In addition, a Civil
War map of Knoxville depicts a house on the terrace. The house appears to be associated
with a road and Confederate ferry crossing on the Tennessee River. Archival research
suggests that European-American occupation in the area may date to as early as the late
18th century, and some of the artifacts recovered during this study may be associated with
that occupation. During the testing, a trench-like feature was identified near the possible
location of the Civil War-era house. This may be the archaeological manifestation of the
road leading to the ferry. The location of the road would be important in relocating historic
activity mapped along the road, such as the ferry crossing and the house.

In a letter dated, October 30, 2007, TVA Cultural Resources agreed with the extension of
site boundaries regarding 40KN45 and placed conditions on the installation of the
greenway and riprap to minimize potential adverse effects on historic properties. The
SHPO concurred with TVA findings in a letter dated, November 2, 2007. Additionally, a
letter was sent to the following tribes allowing them the opportunity to provide comments
regarding the proposed shoreline stabilization procedures: Eastern Band of Cherokee
Indians; United Keetoowah Band of Cherokee Indians in Oklahoma; Cherokee Nation;
Muscogee (Creek) Nation of Oklahoma; Alabama-Coushatta Tribe; Alabama-Quassarte
Tribal Town; Kialegee Tribal Town; Thlopthlocco Tribal Town; Poarch Band of Creek
Indians; Shawnee Tribe; Absentee-Shawnee Tribe of Oklahoma; and Eastern Shawnee
Tribe of Oklahoma.
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